# Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

# CÂNADIAN THEȘES ON MICROFICHE

# THÈSES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE

•	
NAME OF AUTHOR NOM DE L'AUTEUR	KIE HALK
TITLE OF THESIS TITRE DE LA THÈSE THE SE	TODENS DIETHORS
E TIMETIAL I	GAMERS TO COMPETATIONAL
EXENCISES	
UNIVERSITY UNIVERSITÉ LA CALITY F	PLITATHO
DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED GRADE POUR LEQUEL CETTE THESE FUT PRÉSENTÉE	
YEAR THIS DEGREE CONFERRED ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE GRADE	1/7
NAME OF SUPERVISOR NOM DU DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE	TOHR & HK PHIKER
CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.  The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.	L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHE QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.  L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication in la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.
DATED DATE SIGNED SIGNE	Mary Mary Comments
PERMANENT ADDRESS RÉSIDENCE FIXE	har har
- CLACE D	11/1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

T National Library of Canada

Cataloguing Branch
Canadian Theses Division

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

NOTICE

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction du catalogage Division des thèses canadierines

AVIS

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilmipg. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act. R.S.C. 1970. c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION
HAS BEEN MICROFILMED
EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec, l'université qui à conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés; etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur fe droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE` NOUS L'AVONS RECUE

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

GRADE SIX STUDENTS' METHODS OF ESTIMATING ANSWERS TO COMPUTATIONAL EXERCISES

BY



CAROL MARIE HATK

### A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF FDUCATION

DEPARTMENT OF FLEMENTARY EDUCATION

EDMONTON, ALBERTA : FALL, 1978

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled Grade Six Students' Methods of Estimating Answers to Computational Exercises submitted by Carol Marie Hauk in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Education.

Supervisor

Date August 30,1978.

#### ABSTRACT

There is wide agreement that estimation skills are important and should be taught as an integral part of the mathematics program. Few studies have been conducted, however, to determine how children estimate and why they experience difficulty with this topic. The major purpose of the present study was to determine what strategies grade six students used when they estimated answers to computational exercises in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division of whole numbers,

Twenty-two grade six students from the Edmonton Catholic

System participated in the study. There were ten girls and

twelve boys from a class grouped heterogeneously with respect to ability.

A two-part interview was conducted with each student on an individual basis. The first part required that the student orally estimate answers to computational exercises in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division. The second part required the student to mentally round numbers and then mentally compute with those rounded numbers. The interviews were tape-recorded to facilitate subsequent analysis.

Results showed that the students were more accurate when estimating answers to addition and subtraction exercises than multiplication and division exercises. The majority of the estimates could generally be identified with use of rounding procedures or mental use of pencil and paper algorithms. No particular procedure was

associated with either the "accurate" or the "inaccurate" estimates.

The ability to round numbers and compute with those rounded numbers appeared to be neither necessary nor sufficient to make accurate estimates.

Major recommendations were that Mchildren should have experience in making estimates in a variety of practical settings and in deciding upon reasonable accuracy for the answer.

# Acknowledgement 🗗

The author wishes to express he that ion for all those whose time and efforts have true.

To my advisor, Dr. Joan her continuous support and guidance;

To Dr. W. George Cathcart and Dr. Leonard Stewin, for giving their valuable time to serve on my committee and for their helpful advice.

To the Edmonton Catholic System, the school administrators, teachers and pupils whose cooperation made the study possible;

To my typist, Monica Jewell, who helped me meet the deadlines;

Finally, to my husband, Jerome, for his continuous encouragement and my children, Lisa and Steven, for their patience.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPIE	K ◆	PAGE
ī.	INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	1
	Purpose of the Study	1
•	Rationale for Estimation	1
•	Rationale and Need for the Study	3
	Scope of the Study	4
	Contribution of the Study	<b>6</b> 5
II.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	6
	Estimation and Mental Arithmetic	6
ø	History of mental arithmetic	60
	Definition of mental arithmetic	8
	Need for mental arithmetic	9
•	Research on Estimation of Computation	15.
III.	DESIGN OF THE STUDY	18
	Definition of Terms	18
	Description of Sample	19
	Instruments and their Characteristics	2.1
	Data Collection	2 5
	Assumptions and Limitations	29
	Data Analysis Plan	30
IV.	DATA AMALYSIS AND DISCUSSION	31
	Accuracy of Estimates	32
	Estimating Strategies	38
	Rounding and Mental Computation	49

HAPTER							
V. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS		•	52				
Summary		•	52				
Conclusions			53.				
- Recommendations for Teaching and Research			54				
BIBLIOGRAPHY			57				

## CHAPTER I

# INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

### Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the study was to determine what strategies grade six students used as they estimated answers to computational exercises in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division of whole numbers. Verhal interaction with the students while making the estimates was the method used to obtain knowledge of the thought processes used by the students.

It was hoped that the data obtained in the study would provide teachers with insight into the strategies children use when they estimate so this knowledge could be incorporated into teaching methodology.

# Rationale for Estimation P

Reporting on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (N.A.F.P.), Carpenter et al (1976) claimed that in view of its importance, estimation may be one of the most neglected skills in the mathematics curriculum. Estimation is a broad topic, used in reference to number, measurement, and computation. This study deals with estimation only as it applied to computation.

There is wide agreement that developing estimation skills should be an objective of the mathematics curriculum. Sauble (1955) gave both a social need and a mathematical need. The former arises from the frequent use of mental arithmetic in daily life where estimates can serve as a check on the exact answer, or may be

adequate in themselves. There is a mathematical need because mental computation and estimation not only precide opportunities for the utilization of acquired meanings, but help to further understandings of basic number principles and relationships.

Payne and Seber (1959) claimed that a design for learning which includes planned experiences in estimating and making sensible approximations is necessary, as children are highly unlikely to achieve these skills by themselves. Holmes (1975) agreed in saying that estimation is an important skill for real living and class time devoted to it is well spent.

Fdwards, Nichols and Sharpe (1972), reporting for the Committee on Basic Mathematical Competency and Skills, proposed guidelines which would define minimum competence in mathematics. Estimation skills were included as necessary for judging the reasonableness of computational answers, and for making intelligent consumer decisions.

Bell (1974) proposed a specification of what is "really" needed for minimum mathematical literacy and competency in the mathematics curriculum. He called for confident, ready and informed use of estimates and approximations.

Trafton and Suydam (1975) presented a position paper on computational skills which reflected the thinking of the Arithmetic Teacher editorial panel. The second of ten points stated: "All children need proficiency in recalling basic number facts, in using standard algorithms with reasonable speed and accuracy, and in estimating results and performing mental calculations, as well as an understanding of computational procedures (p. 530)."

More recently, the wide availability of the hend-held calculator has had implications for the entire mathematics curriculum. Opponents of calculator use predict the decline and eventual loss of mental arithmetic reasoning. Advocates, on the other hand, while cautious about elementary school use of the calculator, claim it can and should be used to advantage. Many educators, including Bruni (1976), Ockenga (1976), Gibb (1975), and Immerzeel (1976) have pointed out the necessity for sharpening estimation skills when using the calculator. Bell (1976) reported that poor judgment of significant figures is revealed by calculator use. Calculator errors tend to be large and ability to estimate would help prevent students from accepting erroneous answers. Bell suggested that estimation skills, which are important in any case, must be learned.

# Rationale and Need for the Study'

There is little or no argument that estimation skills are important for modern living. Results from the N.A.E.P. (1976) however, gave evidence that present treatment is insufficient to build any real skill in estimating or to encourage students to use estimation where it is appropriate.

There have been few studies conducted to identify the cause of children's difficulties with estimation. One reason for this is that estimation is a process and is difficult to measure.

Trafton (1978) said that there is not much known about how children's thinking develops in this area, nor how they can be helped to learn estimation skills competently and confidently. Investigating

children's estimation'techniques, Sauble (1955) found that they do not always employ standardized prescribed thought patterns, but use ingenuity and resourcefulness.

The N.A.E.P. study (1976) hypothesized that one source of difficulty in making estimates is a lack of the prerequisite skill of rounding numbers and operating with multiples of ten, one hundred, one thousand and so on. Further indications were that estimation requires "quantitative intuition" which includes the ability to decide if an answer makes sense, and a feeling for the quantities represented by large numbers. There is no well-defined algorithm for estimation; any such strategy would depend on the acceptable criteria for a reasonable estimate.

estimate can be validly assessed if only the final result of the calculation is considered. To obtain a valid measure of a student's ability to estimate, it is probably necessary to observe that student estimating (p. 299)."

Scope of the Study

The study was designed to help answer the following questions:

1) How accurately do children estimate answers to computational exercises in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division?

2) What identifiable strategies do children use when estimating?

- 3) Are there similarities in the strategies used to obtain "accurate" estimates?
- 4) Are there similarities in the strategies used to obtain "inaccurate" estimates?
- accurate estimates and the ability to round numbers and compute with those rounded numbers?

### Contribution of the Study

The current paucity of knowledge regarding students' understanding and use of estimation prompted this study which is exploratory and descriptive in nature. The study was designed to yield information about the strategies children use when they estimate. Prowledge of strategies used and difficulties encountered by students would have implications for teaching methodology. It was also hoped that the results would provide some direction for future research in this area.

#### CHARTER II

# REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

### Estimation and Mental Arithmetic

Ist-imation as a topic cannot be completely separated from the larger field of mental arithmetic. Mental arithmetic has had an interesting history which provides a background for the present study.

History of mental arithmetic

Mental arithmetic is a typical example of a mathematics curriculum concern whose popularity has been cyclical in nature. Historically, as pointed out by Wolf (1960), it long preceded written computation. Following the advent of written numerals, numerical systems were perpetuated by pencil and paper for the purposes of educating the young and satisfying the needs of society. Pesulting materials tended to promote routine pencil and paper procedures, which when emphasized, became a guide to arithmetic instruction rather than an aid. This written approach to teaching arithmetic relegated oral computation to a minor role.

According to Smith (1913), a change was initiated in the early nineteenth century, largely due to the influence of Pestalozzi in Europe and Warren Colburn in the United States. They protested the written method of arithmetic, claiming it was too slow and promoted intellectual Auggishness and lack of reasoning. Also prominent at this time was the theory of faculty psychology which advocated mental

discipline through exercising the mind with mental calculations.

Thus, oral arithmetic flourished and written arithmetic assumed the minor role.

In the early twentieth century, the theory of faculty psychology was discredited. In the large reaction against the doctrine of mental discipline, mental arithmetic once again fell into great disfavor. Hall (1954) regrets this erroneous association by writing, "It is unfortunate that mental arithmetic, in such questionable company as mental discipline, was also discredited (p. 349)."

The result was that, from about 1910 to 1940, mental arithmetic virtually disappeared from the curriculum. By the 1940's, educators once more began to reexamine the place of mental arithmetic in the curriculum. This was perhaps due to the social utility theory of curriculum prevalent at that time. Mental arithmetic for everyday life situations was recognized as being both necessary and different from pencil and paper methods.

Until this time, arithmetic instruction tended to extremes of total emphasis on, or total lack of, mental procedures. According to Hall (1954), the return was characterized by a totally different point of view. Purposeless drill on rapid calculation was replaced by practical situations which required either exact or approximate answers, methods which led to increased understanding of the decimal system of numeration and number relations, and enrichment exercises for motivation. The past tendency to adopt extreme positions was seen as impractical. Putting it in its proper perspective,

Thorndike (1922) said that problems solved with or without pencil and paper had varying degrees of merit, according to the particular arithmetic exercise, pupil, and problem context. A similar thought was voiced by Suzzallo (1911) who said that the use of pencil and paper or mental procedures should be a matter of situational judgment rather than an arbitrary decision which is often uneconomical or inefficient.

# Definition of mental arithmetic

Another factor which has influenced the popularity of mental arithmetic inefinition of the term itself. Hall (1954) found that many different terms and phrases are understood and used in reference to mental arithmetic by texthooks, authorities, and teachers. He discovered that in eight series of fifth and sixth grade textbooks, eleven different terms or phrases were used in reference to solving problems mentally. Brown (1950) surveyed teachers on their opinion as to whether or not mental arithmetic should be included in a cultural general mathematics course. He found that their answers depended upon their notion of mental arithmetic. Those in favor interpreted it as a topic which implied estimation or mental shortcuts; those not in favor saw it as using standard written procedures, but doing them mentally.

The terms mental arithmetic and oral arithmetic are used most frequently, and are sometimes used synonomously. Some authorities (Hall, 1954) claimed that all arithmetic is mental; even when each step is written down, the arithmetic is done in the mind.

One such contender was Thompson (1917), who saw mental arithmetic as calculations performed in the mind without recording on paper any intermediate results, whether the final answer is written down, said aloud, or simply thought. Similarly, the origin of the problem may be spoken, written or raised in the mind by a practical situation. This view was adopted by Schall (1973) and Hall (1954) who also included quick estimations which may or may not be verified in writing. Hall recommended exclusive use of the term mental arithmetic because it is used more frequently than oral arithmetic and because the latter term often limits the problem to one which arises, is solved, or answered orally.

Flournoy (1959) defined mental arithmetic as "the interpreting or solving of quantitative situations without the aid of paper and pencil (p. 133)." She defined short-cut method as "a method which differs from the regular paper and pencil method. Sometimes it may not actually be shorter but it may be an easier way of thinking when not using paper and pencil (p. 137)." Wolf (1960) used the term oral arithmetic which he interpreted as non-written figuring. These definitions would not seem to limit mental arithmetic to refer only to exact calculations, but could encompass situations in which estimates are made of numerousness, measurements or answers to calculations.

#### Need for mental arithmetic

To justify the inclusion of mental arithmetic in the curriculum, it must be recognized as differing from pencil and paper methods, and a need for such procedures must be established. While the topic has

not been extensively investigated, a review of existing journal articles and research reports offers much support.

A major proponent of the teaching of mental arithmetic, Frances Flournoy (1957) asserted that it is a matter of common experience and observation that mental arithmetic is often required to solve or interpret quantitative situations or produce quick solutions without the use of pencil and paper. Children must be given the opportunity to mentally solve problems involving simple computation, make approximations, and interpret quantitative data, terms and statements. In a study with intermediate grade children, trained to mentally solve exercises and word' problems, Flournoy (4954) claimed they made significant gains in these skills. Their written arithmetic skills were not hindered, but rather seemed to be aided by the experience. Supported by her research, she concluded that it is doubtful that good arithmetic teaching which emphasizes only written skills, equips pupils to handle daily mental arithmetic situations. This view reaffirmed a similar one made by Smith (1913) more than forty years earlier.

Wandt and Brown (1957) investigated the non-occupational use of mathematics. In a twenty-four hour period, college students kept a record of their uses of computation. Mental computation accounted for 75% of their uses and written computation for 25%. Of the uses recorded by children in grades three to six, 71.6% were non-pencil-and-paper. It was felt that the children may have overlooked many uses and that they would make even greater use of

mental arithmetic if they felt confident in doing so. The reading of tables, graphs, and scales found in reference materials and newspapers involves mental arithmetic, but such uses were not reported, indicating that they were overlooked.

which primary teachers must develop in young thildren, as it will be of substantial assistance to them throughout life. His claim for this emphasis is that about 75% of all non-occupational uses of arithmetic by adults is mental. Beberman (1965) observed that mental arithmetic helps children become independent of memorized techniques. Children who follow strict algorithms with pencil and paper are at a great disadvantage when following blackboard or textbook presentations. Mental arithmetic encourages children to discover computational shortcuts which provide deeper insight into the number system.

Payne (1966) found that grade five pupils who were taught mental computation using a specified time allotment within the arithmetic curriculum and a step-by-step planned sequence of material performed better than those using an intermittent texthook presentation, as measured by a mental computation test. As standard achievement test scores revealed no significant differences between the two groups, he concluded that the time taken from regular class instruction had no adverse effect on the experimental group.

In a similar experiment, Grumbling (1970) found that grade four pupils significantly improved their mental computation skills following a series of prepared mental computation lessons, without

suffering a loss in arithmetic achievement. The control group, following the regular arithmetic program, also made significant gains in mental computation ability, but the experimental group made significant gains in mental problem-solving ability as compared to the control group.

Rea and French (1972) assessed the merits of oral instruction in mental computation versus pencil and paper enrichment activities for grade six. Both treatments, as measured by standardized mathematics achievement test scores, resulted in a significant growth over a small number of instructional sessions.

wolf (1960) conducted a study to determine the best materials and procedures for oral instruction in the four fundamental processes as well as addition and subtraction of fractions. The lessons were geared to supplement grade four and five arithmetic programs. Experimental groups received either film presentations or printed materials. He found that both experimental methods were effective in both motivating and teaching oral arithmetic processes.

Similarly, Schall (1973) compared the effects of short, frequent mental arithmetic lessons in grade five, which were presented in either visual, oral, or both visual and oral modes. The pupils grew in their mental arithmetic skills regardless of the mode of presentation, all of which were enjoyed. There was no loss in the paper and pencil skills of the experimental groups, though regular class time was used for the lessons. In fact, these groups showed gains in the problem-solving retention test, indicating that they were

better able to transfer skills and concepts than the control groups who received either no treatment or placebo treatment.

Hall (1947) investigated mental problem solving with grade six pupils. He found there are considerable individual differences in ability to solve verbal problems without pencil and paper. There was a positive correlation with I.Q., but no significant difference between male and female students. Generally, addition problems were the easiest, followed by subtraction, division and multiplication, in that order. Similarly, one-step problems were easier than two or three step problems.

Spencer and Brydegaard (1952) claimed that oral-verbal problems occur more often in life experiences than do written problems. In school, these problems should center around children's activities and consumer type problems. Spitzer (1954, 1967) said that if he were limited to offering one suggestion for improving the problemsolving ability of upper-grade pupils, it would have to be oral problem solving. He claimed it is successful because it puts into practice essential problem-solving procedures. These he listed as:

1) undivided attention to the problem, 2) sizing up or analysing the problem situation, 3) use of significant or simple numbers, 4) better picturing of the problem-solving process through forced use of simple numbers and processes, 5) time for reflection and evaluation, and 6) better understanding through various solution methods.

Petty (1956) conducted two parallel experiments to study the effectiveness of a non-pencil and paper method of solving verbal

arithmetic problems in grade six. The experimental groups did not use pencil and paper and had no access to the printed problem during the alotted solution time. Control groups used pencil and paper and had continuous presentation of the printed problem during both reading and solution time. Criterion tests included pencil and paper problems, non-pencil and paper problems, orally stated problems, and a speed test. There were no significant differences on the overall mean gains or performance changes between the experimental and control groups, but gains made favored the group whose practice method was similar to the criterion method. This trend indicated that maximum improvement in ability to solve verbal problems by either method could hest be accomplished by practice in the respective method. While the control group scored higher on the practice exercises than did the experimental groups, their advantage declined as the experimental group had more practice with non-pencil and paper methods. Since there is a need in life to solve problems mentally, practice in such procedures is essential.

Mental arithmetic, then, whether it refers to solving problems or performing computations without pencil and paper, has a definite place in the curriculum. Mental arithmetic situations occur frequently in life for both children and adults. The processes involved differ from pencil and paper procedures, and require specific instruction if they are to be used both effectively and efficiently.

Research on Estimation of Computation

The literature on estimation of computation is sparse and the studies done vary in nature. They include investigation of the effect that teaching estimation has on computational skills, the relative merits of planned or incidental instruction in estimation and attempts to correlate the ability to estimate with other skills or attributes.

Mazzei (1959) compared the growth in arithmetic achievement of grade nine and ten pupils who estimated answers to problems before solving them, with those who did not. He found that the lower one—third of the experimental classes achieved greater gains than the upper third in three-quarters of the comparisons made. This indicated that the lower students can increase achievement skills by first estimating answers. He was certain that arithmetic instruction would become more meaningful and students would show increased understanding if emphasis were placed upon a thoughtful analysis of the relationships between numbers rather than upon rule-of-thumb procedures.

Nelson (1966) compared the effect of planned teaching of estimation on arithmetic achievement with the effect of incidental estimation exercises in a regular textbook in the fourth and sixth grades. In grade six, the experimental group significantly surpassed the control group on a test of arithmetic concepts and applications. In grade four, the control group surpassed the experimental group on a test of computation. The experimenter felt that this was perhaps due to the fact that the time necessary to estimate each answer prevented them from completing as many examples. The children given instruction and practice in applying estimation skills were more competent in using this procedure than those not receiving the

/

instruction. This indicated that the ability to estimate is more related to the ability to apply procedures than the ability to compute. Also, children with higher I.Q.'s tended to be better estimators. Nelson concluded that it is difficult to successfully integrate such a program in one year, as change in behavior is related to previous habits and teaching.

Paull (1971) analysed grade eleven student's ability to estimate length, area, and answers to numerical computations; and to solve problems by trial and error. He found that the subjects, were not consistent across the tasks in their ability to estimate answers to problems, but this ability was significantly correlated with mathematics and verbal ability. He also found a positive correlation between the ability to estimate answers to numerical computation and the ability to solve problems by trial and error. The ability to estimate length was not correlated with mathematical or verbal ability nor was the ability to estimate area and length correlated with the ability to compute rapidly. Estimation abilities were not related to the tendency to categorize quantities in broad, medium or narrow band-widths, nor were there significant differences between males and females.

Mental arithmetic has had an interesting history. Acceptance or rejection of mental procedures as part of the mathematics curriculum has been inconsistent. This inconsistency was in part due to the difficulty of defining mental arithmetic. Those educators who have seen mental arithmetic as procedures different from pencil and paper

algorithms, have promoted its practice as part of regular mathematics instruction.

Estimation is an important, but often neglected, facet of mental arithmetic. Previous studies concerning estimation have been statistical in nature, mainly attempting to link the ability to estimate with other measurable mental abilities. The present study is intended to be descriptive of the strategies used to estimate and how the strategies are related to the accuracy of the estimates.

#### CHAPTER III

#### DESIGN OF THE STUDY

The main purpose of the study was to determine what strategies grade six students used as they estimated answers to computational exercises in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division of whole numbers. The specific purposes of the study were listed in Chapter I. The present chapter includes definition of terms, description of the sample and instrument used, method for data collection, assumptions and limitations, and an outline of the data analysis plan.

#### Definition of Terms

The following definitions are operational in nature as used in the study:

Estimation:

the mental process of determining an approximate

answer to a computational exercise.

Estimate:

the final answer determined through the process

of estimation.

Proper order of magnitude:

within one thousand, one hundred, ten or one of

the exact answer when the largest place value of

the exact answer is thousands, hundreds, tens or

one respectively.

Accurate estimate: within the proper order of magnitude.

Inaccurate estimate: outside the proper order of magnitude.

## Description of Sample

The sample was comprised of twenty-two grade six students from a school in the Edmonton Catholic System. The area was described by the administration as middle-class. Twelve boys and ten girls participated in the study. The class was heterogeneously grouped with respect to ability.

Table 1 shows existing data which were available for the sample.

The students were listed in descending order of age as of April 1, 1978. This statistic was the only one which was available for the entire sample. The average age was eleven years and six months; and the ages ranged from eleven years and two months to twelve years and zero months.

As the entrance age for grade one students in the Edmonton Separate System ranges from five years and six months to six years and six months, the ages of grade six students as of April 1 would be expected to range from eleven years and one month to twelve years and one month. The ages of all students in this sample fall within the expected range.

Lorge-Thorndike I.Q. scores of twenty students were available. Of these twenty, the average score was 105 and the scores ranged from 72 to 128. As the average score for the Edmonton Separate System is 104, the students in this sample scored slightly above the norm for the system.

Table 1

Ages in years and months, I.Q. scores, and grade equivalent scores for concepts and problems on Canadian Test of Basic Skills, for sample used.

	t -		Concepts	Problems
1	12- 0	105	6.9	6.9
2	11-i.	111	6.3	5.9
3	11-11	93	5.5	4.3
4	11-11	122	6.8	6.4
5	11 10	116	5.8	6.4
6	11- 9	109	5.4	, 5.7
7	11-7	106	5.4	5.8
8	11- 7	100	5.8	4.9
9	11-7	9.7	-	<del>-</del>
10	11-6	115	6.8	7.3
11 \	11- 6	•	5.4 .	5.7
12 /	11-5	128	7.9	7.3
13	11-5	116	6.5	6.4
14	11- 5	_	4.4	3.2
15	11	. 110	5.4	5,1
16	11- 4	113	-	<u>-</u>
1 7	11-3	104	₹.5	3.6
1,8	11-3	.7.2	3.1	4.6
14	11- 2	9.7	5.4	5.8
201	11- 2	118	6.7	6.2
21	11-2	84	4.2	4.9
2.2	11- 2	91	4.2	4.3
verage based on	11- 6	105	5.6	5.5

-

Scores from the Canadian Test of Basic Skills administered in April, 1977 were available for twenty students. Scores for both the concepts and problems subtests are reported in grade equivalents. The average grade equivalent for concepts was 5.6 and the scores ranged from 3.1 to 7.9. The average grade equivalent for the problems was 5.5 and the scores ranged from 3.6 to 7.3. As the expected average for both these scores for students in the Edmonton Separate System would have been 5.7, the scores of the students in this sample were slightly lower than expected.

Thus, when considering age, I.Q. and mathematics achievement, this class is close to the norms for sixth grade classes in the Edmonton Catholic System.

Grade six pupils were chosen because children at this level are expected to be proficient at doing the four basic operations with whole numbers. It was also felt that children at this age would be better able to explain their strategies than would younger children capable of the same exercises.

#### Instruments and their Characteristics

A two-part interview was conducted with each child on an individual basis. The first part required that the student orally estimate answers to computational exercises in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division. The second part required that the

student mentally round numbers and then mentally compute with those rounded numbers.

The interview protocol was designed by the researcher.

The original questions were piloted with three children. The children were encouraged to ask for clarification of any aspect of the questioning procedure that did not seem clear and to offer suggestions. As a result, modifications were made with respect to what questions were asked and how they were phrased.

Questioning procedures were similar to those used by

Cathcart (1969) in that the order and phrasing of the questions

was preset to ensure consistency. The intention was to draw out

the students' thoughts while they were estimating without prompting

or suggesting possible answers.

The exercises selected were ones which are commonly encountered by grade six students in the equipment of ematics instruction as prescribed by the Alberta Department of Education (1977).

Curriculum objectives for the sixth grade include addition and subtraction of any whole numbers; multiplication using one, two and three digit multipliers; division using one, two and three digit divisors (with or without remainders); mental multiplication of whole numbers by 10,100 and 1000; and estimation of products and quotients.

The addition exercises were all presented in column format of three, four or five numbers. The numbers had two, three or four digits.

The subtraction exercises involved three and four digit numbers with regrouping of the ones, tens and hundreds digits.

The multiplication exercises were either a one digit number times a two digit number or a two digit number times a three digit number. All exercises required regrouping.

The division exercises involved two digit divisors and either two or four digit dividends. Two quotients had remainders.

Experiences similar to all the exercises used can be found in the grade six textbooks of the three prescribed references.

The publishers of these references are Addison Wesley; Holt,

Rinehart and Winston; and Science Research Associates.

Part one consisted of two exercises each, of addition, subtraction, multiplication and division, in that order. For each part the simpler exercise was given first. The students were asked to explain how they would estimate the answer for each exercise.

Part two consisted of one exercise each of addition, subtraction, multiplication and division, in that order. The students were asked to round the numbers in each exercise and then compute the rounded numbers.

Each exercise in both parts was presented on a single page of a booklet which contained nothing but the exercises. After the student had made each estimate in part one, a pencil was used to do the exercise. The exercises in part two were not done with pencil and paper.

Exercises in Part one were presented in this form:

Multiplication: M1) 
$$67$$
  $\times$  M2)  $253$   $\times$  X39

Division: D1) 
$$16)92$$
 D2)  $76)6308$ 

Exercises in Part two were presented in this form:

#### Data Collection

The data was collected over a one-week period from April 3 to April 7, 1978. Interviews were tape-recorded to facilitate subsequent analysis.

<u>Pre-interview Discussion:</u> A pre-interview discussion was conducted with each child to:

- 1) establish rapport and make the child feel comfortable,
- ensure that the child understood what estimation means and why it is necessary,
- 3) explain the purpose of the study.

This part of the interview was not tape-recorded. The following statements and questions are examples of those posed by the researcher.

- 1) "The reason I am here is to find out how grade six students estimate answers to addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division exercises".
- 2) "The questions I will be asking you do not have right or wrong answers. I am interested in how you estimate the answers".
- 3) "Do you know what estimation means?" This question was followed by a discussion of the child's notion of estimation.

- 4) "When you make an estimate, you figure out in your head about how much the answer is without actually adding, subtracting, multiplying or dividing the numbers to get the exact answer as you would with a pencil and paper".
- 5) "Have you studied how to estimate in class?"
- answers?" This question was followed by a discussion of using estimation when shopping, building, solving problems or using the calculator.
- 7) Each student was asked not to discuss with the other students what was involved in the interview until all the students had participated.

<u>Part One</u>: The researcher gave each student the following directions before recording the answers:

- 1) "I am going to give you some exercises in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division. For each exercise I want you to explain, step by step, how you would estimate the answer in your head before you work out the exact answer with pencil and paper".
- 2) "I want you to try to tell me exactly what you think or say to yourself while you are making the estimate. It might help if you tell me how you would explain to, or teach another student how to estimate the answer".
- 3) "Do you understand what I am going to ask you to do? Do you have any questions before we begin?"

For each of the eight exercises to be estimated, some or all of the following questions were asked. Alternate questions were used when it was necessary to repeat the question. They were pre-planned to help the researcher be consistent and avoid asking leading questions when the students failed to respond.

1) "Please explain, step by step, how you would estimate the answer to this exercise".

## Alternate questions were:

- 1a) "What would you think or say to yourself when estimating the answer to this exercise?"
- 1b) "What do you think is a good estimate of the answer to this exercise? Why? How did you get this answer?"
- lc) ."About how much do you think the answer is? Why?"
- ld) "How would you explain to another student how to estimate this answer?"
- 2) "Do you think the exact answer is more or less than your estimate? Why?"

### An alternate question was:

- 2a) "If you work out the exact answer with pencil and paper, do you think the exact answer will be bigger or smaller than your estimate? Why?"
  - 3) "Now find the exact answer with this pencil. Do you think your estimate was a good one? Why or why not?"

## An alternate question was:

- 3a) "Use this pencil to get the exact answer. Now that you know the exact answer, do you think your estimate was good? Why or why not?"
- 4) "If your estimate is not good, do you think there is a better way to estimate the answer to this exercise?

  Tell me how you would do it".

<u>Part Two</u>: The researcher gave each student the following directions before recording the answers.

- 1) "One way of estimating the answers to exercises is to round each number and then add, subtract, multiply or divide them".
- 2) "This time I'm going to ask you to do each exercise by rounding the number first".

For each of the four exercises to be estimated, some or all of the following questions were asked. Alternate ways of phrasing the questions were pre-planned to help ensure consistency.

1) "Please explain to me how you would round each of these numbers to make it easier to add (subtract, multiply, divide) them".

## An alternate question was:

la) "In order to make an estimate it is easier if you round the number first. How should you round these numbers to make it easier to get an answer?"

- 2) "Now, add (subtract, multiply, divide) the rounded numbers.".

  An alternate question was:
- 2a) "What answer do you get when you add (subtract, multiply, divide) using the rounded numbers?"
- 3) "Do you think this estimate is larger or smaller than the exact answer? Why?"

If the student was unable to respond to the first three questions, the following was asked:

4) "Do you know how to round numbers? Please explain how you would do it. Could you give me an example?"

## Assumptions and Limitations

The following assumptions were made about the sample and procedure used:

- 1) It was assumed that verbal interaction with students while they estimated would provide information about what they were thinking.
- 2) It was assumed that grade six students would have an understanding of the operations used and the standard algorithms commonly applied.
- 3) The exercises were presented in a fixed order. It was assumed that no learning would affect subsequent responses.

  Limitations of the study are acknowledged as follows:
- 1) The students' previous learning and background experiences were not taken into account.
- 2) Variation in the students' verbal ability may have affected the results.

- 3) The sample was limited in size.
- 4) Recent I.Q. scores or recent general mathematical ability scores were not available.
- 5) Presence of the tape recorder may have interfered with the responses.

## Data Analysis Plan

The data were organized for analysis as follows:

#### Part One:

Accuracy of estimates: The estimates were classified as either accurate or inaccurate. The rationale for this distinction is given in Chapter IV. The data were examined to gain a general picture of the accuracy of the estimates both within and across the operations.

Strategies used: The strategies were classified on a researcherdesigned basis. Major anticipated categories were: 1) use of rounding and 2) mental use of pencil and paper methods. The data were examined to determine if there was a relationship between the strategy used and the accuracy of the estimates.

#### Part Two:

Rounding and Computation: The rounding procedures were examined to determine how precisely, with respect to place value, the students rounded the numbers. The data were examined to determine if accuracy in computation is related to precision of rounding.

Accuracy and rounding: A comparison was made to see if there was a relationship between the ability to round numbers and use of this procedure to obtain accurate estimates in part one.

## CHAPTER IV

### DATA ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

Twenty-two grade six pupils were interviewed to determine what strategies they used as they estimated answers to addition, subtraction, multiplication and division exercises using whole numbers. The major purposes of the study were to determine:

- \(i) how accurately children timate answers to
  computational exercises in addition, subtraction,
  multiplication and division;
- (ii) identifiable strategies the children used when
  . estimating;
- (iii) if there were similarities in the strategies used
   to obtain "accurate" estimates;
- (iv) if there were similarities in the strategies used to obtain "inaccurate" estimates;
  - (v) if there was a relationship between the ability to make accurate estimates and the ability to round numbers and compute with those rounded numbers.

The results of the study are presented and discussed in the present chapter under the following headings:

Accuracy of Estimates

Estimating Strategies

Rounding and Mental Computation

## Accuracy of Estimates

To obtain a general picture of the accuracy of the estimates, each estimate was placed in a category based on the error, e (difference between the estimate and the exact answer).

N.A.E.P. (1976) noted that one is often concerned with estimating an answer of the proper order of magnitude. For example, if the largest place value of the exact answer is the thousands, hundreds, tens or, one place, the estimate should be within one thousand, one hundred, ten or one of the exact answer, respectively.

This suggested a rationale for the determination of accuracy categories. Estimates within the proper order of magnitude were placed in category A. Estimates which fell outside the proper order of magnitude were placed in category B. Category C accounted for the exercises for which no estimate was given. Table 2 shows the specific criteria for categories A and B.

Table 2

3

Criteria for determining categories to classify estimates on the basis of accuracy where e is the difference between the estimate and exact answer

			•	
Number of digits		-	Accu <b>ra</b> cy (	Category
in exact answer	<del></del>		A	В
			,	
1			e = }	. e > 1
2			e 🖆 10	<b>e 7</b> 10
3			e ≛ 100	e > 100
4	<b>0</b> 1		e = 1000	e > 1000

For purposes of further analysis and discussion, the estimates in category A were considered to be accurate; those in category B were considered to be inaccurate.

Table 3 gives the frequencies of the estimates in each accuracy category for each exercise.

Table 3
Frequency distribution of estimates in each accuracy category for each exercise (N=22)

Exercise	A	P	(°	Total
	_	_		
Al	1 7	5	()	2.7
A2	17	5	()	2.2
S1	1 4	3	()	55
S 2	1 7	4	1	2.2
M.1	11	11	$\cap$	2.2
M2	()	21	1	22
D1	6	16	()	2.2
D.5	$\cap$	21	1	22
Total .	6.7	86	4	176

The data in Table 3 show that about half the estimates were considered accurate and about half were considered inaccurate.

By combining the number of accurate estimates for each operation it can be seen that generally, the most accurate estimates were made for the operations in this order: subtraction, addition, multiplication, and division.

The addition exercises were both relatively well estimated. Only five estimates in each addition exercise were considered inaccurate.

The subtraction exercises were both relatively well estimated. All but three estimates made for SI were considered accurate. This was the best estimated exercise. All but five estimates for S2 were considered accurate.

The multiplication exercises were relatively poorly estimated.
Only half of M1 and none of the M2 estimates were considered to be accurate.

The division exercises were relatively poorly estimated. Only about one-quarter of the D1 and none of the D2 estimates were considered accurate.

Because addition is usually considered easier than subtraction, one would have expected the addition estimates to be more accurate than the subtraction estimates. While it would be difficult to establish the relative difficulty of the specific exercises used, it may be that Al and Al, which required combining four and five numbers respectively, were more difficult than Sl and S2.

Table a shows the frequency of estimates which we're the same as, above, or below the exact answer in each category for each exercise.

Table 4

Frequency distribution of estimates the same as, above or below the exact answer in each accuracy category for each exercise.

			Accuracy Category						
			Α		]	В	С		
Exercis	e	Exact	Low	High	Low	High			
A 1		. 4	6	7	<b>7</b> 3	2	0		
A2 '		2	10	5	5	0	0		
S 1		3	8	ρ	1	2	0		
52		l	6	10	4	0	1		
M1	,	4	4	3	8	3	0		
M2		0	0	0	19	2	1		
10.1		0	5	1	10	6	0		
$\dot{\nu}_5$		()	0	0	16	5	1		
Total		14	39	34	66	20	3		

The data in Table 4 show that for the accurate estimates there was about equal tendency to be above the exact answer or below the exact answer. For the inaccurate estimates, however, about three-quarters of the estimates were below the exact answer, and only one-quarter were above the exact answer. This indicates that perhaps the more uncertain the student was about making an estimate, the more likely he was to underestimate.

asked to check their estimate by doing the exercise with pencil and paper. The errors made were generally classified as either algorithmic or non-algorithmic. Algorithmic errors were the result of using the algorithmic process incorrectly. Stude who made non-algorithmic errors used the correct algorithmic process, but made casual or careless errors.

In the division exercises, some students just multiplied their estimate for the quotient by the divisor rather than doing the long division. All students who chose to do this multiplied correctly. Table 5 shows the frequency of correct and incorrect answers for each exercise.

Table 5

Frequency distribution of correct and incorrect answers to each exercise done with pencil and paper

_			Answer Type		-	
Exercise	Correct	Algorithmic error	Mon-algorithmic error	Unable to do	Checked division by multiplicati	on Tot <b>a</b> l
A 1	18	0	4	Ω	0	22
A2	18	0	4	0	n	22
51	21	1	0	0	Ω	. 22
52	18	1	3	ο.	n	22
<b>M</b> 1	21	1	1,1	0	0	22
M2	11	2	8	1	0	22
D1	9	5	3	2	3	22
υ5	7	5	Ω	3	7	22
Total	123	15	22	6	<b>1</b> 0	176

When doing the exercises with pencil and paper, the most errors were made for the operations in the following descending order: division, multiplication, addition and subtraction. This order is consistent with the order of accuracy of the estimates across the operations. In the addition exercises, only four students made errors in Al and four students made errors in Al. These were all non-algorithmic errors and only one student did both exercises incorrectly. The number and nature of the errors indicates that the students were generally

skillful at column addition.

In the subtraction exercises, only one student made an error in S1 and four students made errors in S2. The only student who did both exercises incorrectly made algorithmic errors. The other three errors were non-algorithmic. The number and nature of these error indicates that the students were generally skillful at subtraction.

In the multiplication exercises, only one student did M1 incorrectly and that was an algorithmic error. Only half of the students did M2 correctly. Of the eleven students who did not, eight made non-algorithmic errors, two made algorithmic errors, and one student was unable to do the multiplication. The number of errors indicates that the students could multiply simple (one digit times two digits) exercises well, but had difficulty with harder (two digit times three digits) exercises. As most errors were non-algorithmic, the difficulty appears to lie in carelessness or lack of practice rather than faulty understanding of the algorithm.

In D1, three students checked their estimates by multiplying correctly. Mine did the division algorithm correctly and ten (almost half) di! it incorrectly. Three made non-algorithmic errors and five made algorithmic errors. Two students were unable to do D1.

In D2, seven students checked their estimates by multiplying correctly. Seven students did the algorithm correctly and five did it incorrectly. All five made algorithmic errors. Three students were unable to do D2.

The number and nature of the errors in the division exercises indicated that generally, the students had difficulty with division.

Generally, both the estimation and pencil and paper calculation of the addition and subtraction exercises were well done. Also, both the estimation and pencil and paper calculation of the multiplication and division exercises were not well done. This parallel observation was not surprising as addition and subtraction are generally regarded as easier operations than multiplication and division.

# Estimating Strategies

The identifiable strategies used by the students when estimating answers were generally classified as follows:

- 1) Student attempted to calculate the exact answer using standard paper and pencil techniques mentally. (Method M)
- 2) Student attempted to apply some rounding procedure to simplify the calculation. (Method R)

Responses from students who did not use identifiable strategies were classified as follows:

- l) Student could not clearly express the procedure used (Response  $\ensuremath{\mathtt{U}}$ ).
- 2) Student offered no explanation of the procedure used. (Response N).

It could be argued that method M is not a true estimation procedure because it is an attempt to obtain the exact answer. This method focuses on detail and step by step algorithmic procedures. Use of this method may be an indication that the student does not distinguish between the meaning of an operation and a standard algorithm.

Method R, on the other hand, may be viewed as a flexible wholistic approach focusing on the meaning of the operation. It is interesting to note that the standard "round and calculate" strategy taught as an estimation technique can be used an mechanically as method M.

Table 6 shows the frequency of each response or method corresponding to the estimates given for each accuracy category. Since twenty-two students each were presented with eight exercises, the total possible number of estimates is 176. However, one student could not even attempt to estimate exercise D2, so the total number of responses represented in Table 6 is 175.

Table 6

Frequency of each response or method corresponding to the estimates given for each accuracy category

·			Response	or Method	
Accuracy category	М	R	',	Ŋ	Total
A (accurate)	42	34	Q	2	. 87
3 (inaccurate)	20	_ 29	17	20	86
C (no estimate)	2	0	0	_0	2
Total	64	63	26	22	175

The data in Table 6 reveals several facts about the responses and use of the strategies. Methods M and R were used equally as often, each method accounting for about one-third of all estimates made. All responses and methods were associated with both accurate and inaccurate estimates. About one-third of the method M estimates and about one-half of the method R estimates were inaccurate. Two-thirds of the estimates associated with response U were inaccurate and about nine-tenths of the responses associated with response N were inaccurate. These facts indicate that the more accurate estimates were not the result of a particular general strategy, but perhaps that when a student is aware of applying a particular strategy, the estimates were more accurate.

Table 7 shows the frequency of each response or method associated with the estimates for each operation. Since twenty-two students were each presented with two exercises for each operation, the total possible estimates for each operation is 44. However, one student could not even attempt to estimate exercise D2, so the total estimates represented for division is 43.

Table 7

Frequency of each response or method associated with estimates for each operation (N=22)

		Re	sponse or	Method	
Operation	М	P		N,	Total
Addition	19	21	4	0	44
Subtraction	24	14	5	1	44
Multiplication	17	16	7	4	44
Division	4	1?	10	17	43
Total	64	63	26	22	175

The data in Table 7 show that the different responses or methods associated with the estimates cut across the operations, but responses!' and " are most frequently associated with multiplication and division.

In order to draw conclusions about successful strategies and problems which the students had with estimation, the particular way in which the methods were used must be examined.

#### Method M

1) Addition: Method M in addition means an attempt to mentally add the numbers by columns.

Seven students used method M to obtain accurate estimates for exercise Al. Six of these seven used the standard algorithm of right to left column addition, with four obtaining the exact answer. The seventh student added the numbers from left to right.

Six students used method M to obtain accurate estimates for exercise A2. Four of these six used the standard algorithm, with three obtaining the exact answer. Two students added the columns from left to right.

Four students who used method M for exercise Al obtained inaccurate estimates. Of the three students who used the standard algorithm, one obtained the exact answer of 84 and then rounded it to 50. The fourth student explained how to use the standard algorithm and then made a guess of 21.

Two students who used method M for exercise A2 obtained inaccurate estimates. Both students used the standard algorithm.

Basically, success in using method M for addition depends on skill and accuracy in remembering partial sums and regrouped numbers which are normally written down, and a sound knowledge of basic facts.

2) Subtraction: Method M in subtraction means an attempt to mentally subtract the numbers by columns.

Ten students used method M to obtain accurate estimates for exercise Sl. Six of these ten used the standard decomposition algorithm, with three obtaining the exact answer; one student obtained the exact answer and then rounded it. Four students subtracted the numbers from left to right.

Fleven students used method M to obtain accurate estimates for exercise S2. Fight of these eleven used the standard algorithm, with one obtaining the exact answer. Three students subtracted from left to right.

One student who used method M for exercise S1 obtained an inaccurate estimate. This student used a left to right method of column subtraction, subtracting the smaller digit from the larger in each case. He forgot one of his partial answers and gave 733 as his

estimate instead of 333.

Two students who used method M for exercise S2 obtained inaccurate estimates. One student attempted to use the standard algorithm, but could not do it. The other student subtracted from left to right and confused the columns.

Success in using method M for subtraction seems to be based on the ability to remember partial difference and "decomposed" numerals which are normally written down, as well as a sound knowledge of basic facts. As the number of digits in the numerals and the need to regroup increases, mental use of the standard according to obtain the exact answer becomes more difficult. An interesting way of obtaining an accurate estimate was to subtract the columns one at a time, from left to right, subtracting the smaller from the larger digit in each case.

3) Multiplication: Method M in multiplication means an attempt to mentally multiply the numbers using the standard algorithm.

Six students used method M to obtain accurate estimates for exercise M1. These students all used the standard algorithm with four obtaining the exact answer.

No students used method M to obtain accurate estimates for exercise M2.

Five students who used method M for exercise M1 obtained inaccurate estimates. These students attempted to use the standard algorithm, but were unable to remember all the partial products.

Five students who attempted to use method M for exercise M2, obtained inaccurate estimates. Another student who attempted to use method M was unable to give a final estimate.

This method for multiplication is difficult because partial products and carried numbers must be remembered. While some students had success with an easy example (one digit times two digits), none could use this method successfully with the more difficult example (two digits times three digits).

4) Division: Method M in division means an attempt to mentally use the inverse process of multiplication or the standard long division, to obtain the exact answer.

Two students used method M for exercise fil. They mentally multiplied the divisor by trial numbers to obtain a product close to the dividend. Both students obtained accurate estimates.

One studemt used method M for exercise D2. This student attempted to use the standard division algorithm and obtained an inaccurate estimate.

The standard long division algorithm is difficult to use either mentally or with pencil and paper because it involves several operations and steps. This may explain why so few students attempted to use this method when estimating.

Generally, method M is difficult because numbers and partial answers, which are usually recorded, must be remembered. Use of this method becomes more difficult as the numbers increase and the number of steps increase.

Of the students who used method M and were not satisfied with their estimates after doing the examples with pencil and paper, few could suggest alternate methods.

Method R.

## 1. Addition:

Seven students used rounding to obtain accurate estimates for exercise Al. Four of these seven rounded each number to the nearer ten and added the rounded numbers, with one adjusting the answer. One student rounded two numbers to the nearer five, two to the nearer ten, added the rounded numbers and adjusted the sum. One student rounded the sum of the first two numbers and added the last two. The seventh student approximated the two partial sums of the numbers taken in pairs, and adjusted the sum of these.

Ten students used rounding to obtain accurate estimates for exercise A?. The techniques included rounding each number (to various places) and adding, rounding partial sums and adding, and a combination of these techniques, with some adjusting answers.

One student used rounding and obtained an inaccurate estimate for exercise Al. The student rounded three numbers to the nearer ten, one to the nearer five, added these to get an answer of 95 and then again rounded up to get 110.

Three students used rounding and obtained inaccurate estimates for exercise A2. One student rounded numbers to the nearer ten, but added incorrectly. One estimated two partial sums, but added them

incorrectly. The third student estimated by considering the hundreds digits only.

Those who successfully used method R for addition did not necessarily follow a rigid pattern, but used creative and flexible strategies. All numbers were not necessarily rounded to the same place value. Partial sums of a group of two or three numbers were used as subestimates which were combined. Adjustments were made in some cases for numbers which were rounded up or down.

Inaccurate estimates seemed presult from inaccurate mental computation control or uncertain trategy.

## 2. Subtraction:

Seven students used rounding to obtain accurate estimates for exercise [5]. Four of these seven rounded each number to the nearer hundred and subtracted. Two students rounded the numbers to the nearer ten or five and subtracted incorrectly, but the error was small. One student estimated that the subtrahend was about half of the minuend and took approximately half of the minuend for an estimate.

Five students used rounding to obtain accurate estimates for exercise S2. One student rounded both numbers to the nearer hundred and subtracted. Two students rounded one number to the nearer thousand, the other to the nearer hundred, and subtracted. One student claimed to use rounding but did not explain how it was used. The fifth student rounded numbers, but subtracted incorrectly although the error was small.

One student used rounding and obtained an inaccurate estimate for exercise S1. The student rounded each number to the nearer hundred but subtracted incorrectly.

One student used rounding and obtained an inaccurate estimatefor exercise S2. The student rounded the thousands as though they were hundreds.

Those who used method R most successfully for subtraction rounded both numbers to one significant digit or both to the same place value. Of the two students who used method R to obtain inaccurate estimates, one made a rounding error and the other made a computational error.

## 3. Multiplication:

Four students used rounding to obtain accurate estimates for exercise MI. Three of these four rounded correctly to one significant figure, two multiplying correctly and one incorrectly. The fourth student rounded incorrectly to one significant figure.

Mo students used method P to obtain accurate estimates for exercise M2.

Four students used method R and obtained inaccurate estimates for exercise M1. One student rounded incornectly, one significant figure and multiplied incorrectly. One student did not round appropriately and multiplied incorrectly. Two students rounded one number to zero to obtain a product of zero. One student realized this was not appropriate and made a guess of 100 for an estimate.

Eight students used rounding and obtained inaccurate estimates for exercise M2. Five of these eight rounded both numbers to the nearer ten but multiplied incorrectly. The other three both rounded inappropriately and multiplied incorrectly.

One reason for difficulty with method R for multiplication is failure to round appropriately. This means rounding the number to too many significant figures for convenient mental multiplication. The most frequent error, however, was mental multiplication of multiples of ten.

### 4. Division:

One student used rounding to obtain an accorate estimate for exercise P1. The student rounded both numbers to the nearer ten, divided and adjusted the answer.

No students used rounding to obtain accurate estimates for exercise N2.

Four students used rounding and obtained inaccurate estimates for exercise Pl. The students rounded correctly, three rounding both numbers to the nearer ten, but all divided incorrectly.

Seven students used rounding and obtained inaccurate estimates for exercise D2. The students rounded the numbers correctly, but divided incorrectly.

Use of method<sup>†</sup>R in division depends on both appropriate rounding that and mental division of rounded numbers.

Generally, use of method R requires several sub-skills, some of which are hard to define. It requires knowledge not only of rules,

for rounding numbers, but also a feel for rounding them to an appropriate number of significant figures suitable to the particular exercise and operation. This method also requires skill in mental computation of rounded numbers for all operations.

## Rounding Numbers and Mental Computation

Part two of the interview involved one exercise each in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division. The student was asked to round the numbers in each exercise to make them easier to compute, and then compute them mentally. Table 8 shows the frequency of correct and incorrect mental computation for each operation with respect to precision of rounded numbers. One student was unable to attempt to round numbers, so the total number of estimates for each operation is 21.

The majority of the children rounded all numbers to one significant figure; two-thirds did for the addition, subtraction, and multiplication exercises, and half did for the division exercises.

Table 8

Frequency of correct and incorrect mental computation for each operation with respect to precision of rounding (N=21)

		Precision of roundin	g numbers
Mental Computation		One significant figure	More than one significant figure
	correct	12	0
Addition	incorrect	3 1 V 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	6
<b>v</b> 1	correct		1
Subtraction	incorrect		5 .
Multi-	correct	,3	0
plication	incorrect	12	6
	correct	0	0
Division	incorrect	11 .	10

With one exception, in subtraction, none of the students rounding to more than one significant figure were able to compute the rounded numbers correctly.

Of the twenty-two students, twelve were able to both correctly round and correctly add mentally. Of these twelve, five used rounding in both exercise Al and exercise A2, two used rounding in exercise A2 only, and five did not use rounding in either exercise Al or A2.

Fourteen students were able to both correctly round and correctly subtract mentally. Of these fourteen, five used rounding in both exercise S1 and exercise S2, one used rounding exercise S1 only, and eight did not use rounding in either exercise S1 or 82.

Only three students were able to both correctly round and correctly multiply mentally. Of these three, one used rounding in both exercise M1 and exercise M2, one used rounding in exercise M2 only, and one did not use rounding in either exercise M1 or exercise M2.

divide mentally.

The students who could both correctly round numbers and correctly compute mentally did not necessarily use these skills in part one.

Students who rounded numbers to more than one significant figure had difficulty computing those rounded numbers. Those who rounded numbers to one significant figure had difficulty with the number of zeros when computing.

An inconsistency noted was that some students who did not both correctly round and correctly compute exercises in part two, used these techniques to obtain accurate estimates in part one in the same operation. This observation accounted for seven accurate addition estimates, three accurate subtraction estimates, and three accurate multiplication estimates.

#### CHAPTER V

# SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### Summary

Mathematics educators agree that estimation is an important and necessary skill for modern living. In spite of its significance, estimation has been relatively neglected in the areas of both teaching and research.

The major purposes of this study were to determine:

- (i) how accurately children estimate answers to computational exercises in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division;
  - (ii) identifiable strategies the children used when estimating;
- (iii) if there were similarities in the strategies used to obtain "accurate" estimates;
- (iv) if there were similarities in the strategies used to obtain "inaccurate" estimates; and
- (v) if there was a relationship between the ability to make accurate estimates and the ability to round numbers and compute with those rounded numbers.

A two-part interview was conducted with each student on an individual basis. The first part required that the student orally estimate answers to computational exercises in addition, subtraction, multiplication and division. The second part required that the student mentally round numbers and then compute with those rounded numbers. The interviews were tape-recorded to facilitate subsequent analysis.

### Conclusions

Keeping the limitations of the study in mind, the following conclusions have been suggested by the results.

- 1. About half the estimates were classified as being accurate and about half were classified as being inaccurate. The students were more accurate in estimating those operations which they could do best when using pencil and paper. When unsure of estimating, the students tended to underestimate rather than overestimate.
- 2. The majority of the strategies used could be generally classified as either using rounding procedures or using pencil and paper algorithms mentally. The latter procedure may have been prompted by the manner in which the exercises were presented.
- 3. The use of a particular strategy was not associated with the more accurate estimates.
- 4. The use of a particular strategy was not associated with the less accurate estimates.
- 5. The ability to round numbers and mentally compute with those rounded numbers was neither a necessary nor a sufficient condition for making accurate estimates. This process can be used mechanically, but use of context in estimation exercises may lead to a more rational application.

## Recommendations for Teaching and Research

The present study was limited to exercises which were presented in written form and the estimation was done without pencil and paper.

These exercises were not presented in a situational or a practical context, but involved numerical computation only.

The results of this study suggest that the foregoing criteria limited and perhaps directed the students' responses. The following recommendations are intended to suggest how teachers may translate the findings into teaching practices and how further research in this area might overcome some of these limitations.

### Recommendations for Teaching

Results of the study have the following implications for the teaching of estimation:

- 1) The reason for making ap estimate must be used as a guide to select a strategy and to judge the reasonablemess of an estimate. Rounding must not be taught as a mechanical process where the method justifies the answer. The possibility of this happening is suggested by the students who accepted estimates of zero.
- 2) In practicing mental computation with rounded numbers, zeros must be given regular attention. The necessity for this was shown by the students who rounded correctly and knew their basic facts but could not compute accurately when zeros were involved.



- 3) To evaluate a student's ability to estimate, it is necessary to consider the context of the problem, the reason for making the estimate and the appropriateness of the accuracy chosen.
- 4) Teaching the skills of rounding numbers and computing mentally with rounded numbers does not necessarily mean that these skills will be transferred to the process of estimation. Teachers must be careful to ensure that these skills are not viewed as an independent procedure. The need for this caution was shown by the students who could both correctly round numbers and compute with them but did not use these skills in part one estimates.
- 5) There is a need to separate the concepts or meanings of operations from the standard algorithms which are applied. Students who used method M to estimate answers may not have made this distinction.
- 6) Students need considerable practice in applying estimation skills. This was demonstrated by the students who were inconsistent in using rounding and computation skills correctly in both parts of the study.

#### Recommendations for Research

Results of the study had the following implications for further research on estimation:

Ο.

1) The form in which the exercises were presented to the students may have prompted the mental use of paper and pencil algorithms. Computational exercises should be presented in a variety of forms such as standard vertical, standard horizontal, arithmetic

sentence, or oral, as the form may influence the choice of strategy used. In particular, the mental use of pencil and paper algorithms would be awkward if the problems were presented orally. When attempting to gain insight into a student's thinking it is important to reduce the effect of any factors which may suggest answers or act as cues.

- 2) Estimation of computation should be presented in a variety of contexts, as the context often suggests the suitable precision for rounding numbers. In different practical situations, desired accuracy may vary even though the numbers and operations involved are identical.
- differs from the order which Hall (1947) found in the ability to solve verbal problems without pencil and paper. Because true estimation techniques differ from pencil and paper algorithms, it would be useful to investigate which, if any, strategies should vary depending on the complexity of a particular exercise within any operation, or vary for different operations. Results of such a study would have implications for the teaching of estimation. For example, rounding strategies for simple multiplication exercises may differ from those used for more difficult exercises, and appropriate rounding strategies for division may differ from those appropriate for subtraction.

### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Alberta Education Elementary Mathematics Curriculum Guide, 1977.
- Beherman, M. as cited in the introduction of Kramer, K. <u>Mental</u> Computation, levels A F. Chicago: S.R.A., 1965.
- Bell, M.S. What does everyman really need from school mathematics? The Mathematics Teacher, 1974, 67, 196-202.
- Bell, M.S. Calculators in elementary schools? Some tentative guidelines and questions based on classroom experience. The Arithmetic Teacher, 1976, 23, 502-509.
- Brown, W.E. The content of a course in general mathematics teachers' opinions. The Mathematics Teacher, 1950, 63, 26-27.
- Bruni, J.V., & Silverman, H.J. Taking advantage of the hand calculator. The Arithmetic Teacher, 1976, 23, 494-501.
- Carpenter, T.P., Coburn, T.G., Reys, R.E., & Wilson, J.W. Notes from national assessment: estimation. <u>The Arithmetic Teacher</u>, 1976, 22, 296-302.
- Cathcart, W.G. The relationship between primary students' relationalization of conservation and their mathematical ability and achievement (Doctoral dissertation, University of Alberta, 1969).
- Devault, M.V., et al., <u>Mathematics Learning System Text</u>. Toronto: Science Research Associates, 1074.
- Edwards, E.L., Nichols, E.D., & Sharpe, G.H. Mathematical competencies and skills essential for enlightened citizens. The Mathematics Teacher, 1972, 65, 671-677.
- Eicholz, R.E., et al., <u>Investigating School Mathematics</u>. Don Mills: Addison Wesley, 1973.
- Elligtt, H.A. <u>Project Mathematics</u>. Toronto: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1974.
- Flournoy, F. The effectiveness of instruction in mental arithmetic. Elementary School Journal, 1954, 55, 148-153.

/

- Flournoy, F. Developing ability in mental arithmetic. The Arithmetic Teacher, 1957, 4, 147-150.
- Flournoy, F. Providing mental arithmetic experiences. The Arithmetic Teacher, 1959, 6, 133-139.
- Gibb, G. Calculators In the classroom. Today's Education, 1975, 64, 42-44.
- Grumbling, B.L.N., An experimental study of the effectiveness of instruction in mental computation in grade VI. <u>Dissertation Abstracts International 31A</u>: 3775-3776, 1970.
- Hall, J.V. Solving verbal arithmetic problems without pencil and paper. Flementary School Journal, 1947, 48, 212-217.
- Hall, J.V. Mental arithmetic: misunderstood terms and meanings. Elementary School Journal, 1954, 54, 349-353.
- Holmes, F.E. Teach estimation? Of course: The Arithmetic Teacher, 1975, .22, 367-369.
- Immerzeel, G. It's 1986 and every student has a calculator. Instructor, 1976, 85, 46-51.
- Kramer, K. Do something about estimation. Problems in the Teaching of Elementary School Mathematics. Boston: Allyn and Bacon, 1970.
- Mazzei, R. A technique for the prevention of errors in arithmetic. School Science and Mathematics, 1959, 59, 493-497.
- Nelson, N.Z. The effect of the teaching of estimation on arithmetic achievement in the fourth and sixth grades. <u>Dissertation</u>
  Abstracts 27A: 4172, 1966.
- Ockenga, E. Calculator ideas for the junior high classroom. The Arithmetic Teacher, 1976, 23, 519-522.
- Paull, D.R. The ability to estimate in mathematics. <u>Dissertation Abstracts International 32A</u>: 3567, 1971.
- Payne, J.F. Jr. An experimental study on the effectiveness of instruction in mental computation in grade V. <u>Dissertation Abstracts 27A</u>, 1966, 608-609.
- Payne, J.N., & Seber, R.C. Measurement and approximation. The Growth of Mathematical Ideas. Twenty-fourth Yearbook of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. Washington, D.C., 1959, 182-228.

;

- Petty, O. Non-pencil and paper solution of problems. The Arithmetic Teacher, 1956, 3, 229-235.
- Rea, R.E., & French, J. Payoff in increased instructional time and enrichment activities. The Arithmetic Teacher, 1972, 19, 663-668.
- Sauble, I. Development of ability to estimate and to compute mentally.

  The Arithmetic Teacher, 1955, 2, 33-39.
- Schall, N.E. Comparing mental arithmetic modes of presentation in elementary school mathematics. School Science and Mathematics, 1972, 73, 359-366.
- Smith, D.E. The Teaching of Arithmetic. Boston: Ginn and Co., 1913, 55. as cited in Flournoy, F. Developing ability in mental arithmetic. The Arithmetic Teacher, 1957, 4, 147-250.
- Smith, D.E. Mental arithmetic. <u>A Cyclopedia of Education</u>. Vol. 4. New York: Macmillan Co., 1918, 195-196.
- Spencer, L.S., & Brydegaard, M. <u>Building Mathematical Concepts in</u> the Elementary School, New York: Henry Holt and Co., 1952, 309.
- Spitzer, H. The Teaching of Arithmetic. Boston: Houghton-Mifflin, 1954, 189-191.
- Spitzer, H. <u>Teaching Blementary School Mathematics</u>. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1967, 193-194.
- Suzzallo, H. The Teaching of Primary Arithmetic. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1911, 78. as cited in Hall, J.V. Solving verbal, arithmetic problems without pencil and paper. Elementary School Journal, 1947, 48, 212-217.
- Thompson, J.B. The Art of Teaching Arithmetic. New York: Lengmans, Green and Co., 1917, 270. as cited in Hall, J.V. Mental. Arithmetic: misunderstood terms and meanings. Elementary School Journal, 1954, 54, 349-353.
- Thorndike, E.L. The Psychology of Arithmetic. New York: Macmanan Co., 1922, 262.
- Trafton, P.R. Estimation and mental arithmetic: important components of computation. Developing Computational Skills. Year took of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. 1978 1.

- Trafton, P.R., & Suydam, M.N. Computational skills: a point of view.

  The Arithmetic Teacher, 1957, 4, 147-154.
- Wandt, E., & Brown, G.W. Non-occupational uses of arithmetic. The Arithmetic Teacher, 1957, 4, 147-154.
- Wolf, W.C. Non-written figuring: Its role in the elementary school curriculum. Educational Research Bulletin, 1960, 39, 293-313.